
SCRUTINY : REGENERATION 
AND PUBLIC PROTECTION 

MEETING
2.30 pm TUESDAY, 5TH DECEMBER, 2017

COUNCIL CHAMBER

Please note that today’s meeting will be recorded. 
 

This recording will not be broadcast on the Authority’s internet as it will only be used for 
training purposes by the Democratic Services Department.

The Public Seating areas will be in view of the Camera and, by entering the Chamber and using 
the Public Seating Area, Members of the Public are consenting to being filmed and to the 

possible use of those images and sound recordings as outlined above.  

This Agenda has been prepared by the Democratic Services Department. Any 
member of the public requiring information should contact the department on (01685) 

725284 or email democratic@merthyr.gov.uk.

Any reference documents referred to but not published as part of this agenda can be 
found on the Council’s website or intranet under Background Papers.

AGENDA

1. Apologies for Absence 

2. Declarations of Interest (including whipping 
declarations) 
Members are reminded of their personal 
responsibility to declare any personal and 

mailto:democratic@merthyr.gov.uk


prejudicial interest in respect of matters contained 
in this agenda in accordance with the provisions of 
the Local Government and Finance Act 1992 
relating to Council Tax, the Local Government Act 
2000, the Council’s Constitution and the Members 
Code of Conduct

Note:

(a) Members are reminded that they must 
identify the item number and subject matter 
that their interest relates to and signify the 
nature of the personal interest and

(b) Where Members withdraw from a Meeting 
as a consequence of the disclosure of a 
prejudicial interest they must notify the 
Chair when they leave

3. Wellbeing Objectives - Working Life 1; Making 
Skills Work for Merthyr Tydfil: Developing the 
Workforce of the Future 
To consider the attached report 1 - 12

4. Continued Development of the Town Centre 
To consider the attached report 13 - 32

5. Scrutiny Referrals, Feedback and Follow Up 
Actions 

6. Forward Work Programme 
To consider the attached report 33 - 56

7. Reflection and Evaluation of Meeting 
To receive an update from the Chair

8. Any Other Business as deemed urgent by the 
Chair 



COMPOSITION: Councillor:  J Amos (Chair)

Councillors: B Carter, C J Barry, S P Brown, M Colbran, 
E Galsworthy and G Lewis

Co-optee(s): H Jackson

Youth Forum Representative: M Ellis

together with appropriate officers

If you would prefer a copy of this agenda in another language please contact 
democratic@merthyr.gov.uk or telephone 01685 725284

mailto:democratic@merthyr.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



1

Civic Centre,  Castle Street

Merthyr Tydfil,  CF47 8AN

Main Tel:  01685 725000,  www.merthyr.gov.uk

SCRUTINY COMMITTEE REPORT

To:  Chair, Ladies and Gentlemen

Working Life 1 / Making Skills Work for Merthyr Tydfil: Developing the 
Workforce of the Future  (Wellbeing Objective)

1. SUMMARY OF THE REPORT

1.1. Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council has produced a set of wellbeing objectives.  To 
demonstrate how we intend to achieve these objectives; the Council has produced a 
Plan: ‘Focus on the Future: Wellbeing in our Community’.  

1.2. This scrutiny report will demonstrate how the activities/services we deliver will support 
the Council to make skills work for the people of Merthyr Tydfil, whilst developing the 
workforce to meet employers future needs.

1.3. To demonstrate how, this report will focus on specific wellbeing projects the Council is 
undertaking to deliver this wellbeing objective, whilst also contributing to the national 
wellbeing goals.

Date Written Friday, 24 November 2017

Accountable for Delivery Alyn Owen
Deb Ryan-Newton
Chris Long

Wellbeing Champion Mark Thomas

Committee Date Tuesday, 05 December 2017

Page 1

Agenda Item 3

http://www.merthyr.gov.uk/


2

1.4. This report focuses on the specific wellbeing projects that the Council will undertake to 
deliver its wellbeing objectives, whilst also contributing to the national wellbeing goals.

1.5. The 2 wellbeing projects we will be offering updates on are:

 Measuring subjective wellbeing; and

 Pathways to Employment for Children Looked After and Care Leavers. 

2. RECOMMENDATION(S)

2.1  The content of this report to be discussed and noted.

3. INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND

3.1. The Council is committed to delivering excellent Employability Services.  It will do this 
by delivering its key strategies and through joint working with a range of partners.  The 
key strategies that focus on delivering these services are:

 Economic Growth Strategy (unpublished)
 Adult Community Learning Strategy1 

Legislative Context
3.2. The Wellbeing of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 specifies that public bodies 

must work to improve the economic, social, environmental and cultural wellbeing of 
Wales by maximising their contribution to the Wellbeing Goals.  We must do this in 
accordance with the sustainable development principle (the 5 ways of working).  

3.3. On 22 March 2017, Elected Members approved the Council’s Statement of Wellbeing. 
The document outlined the Council’s wellbeing objectives and listed what the Council 
proposed to do to support an improvement in community wellbeing across the County 
Borough.  The Statement also explained why it considers meeting these objectives will 
maximise our contribution to the achievement of the seven national wellbeing goals.

3.4. Work was then undertaken involving Elected Members, senior officers and other 
Council staff.  Following a review of the findings of this work which was reviewed 
alongside the views of communities across Merthyr Tydfil collected through community 
engagement; the Council produced its local Wellbeing Plan for Merthyr Tydfil.  Focus on 
the Future: wellbeing in our community outlines how the Council would work towards 
achieving its wellbeing objectives.  

1 NB – this strategy is currently under review

Page 2

file://mtcbcfs1/Performance%20Risk%20and%20Partnerships/Wellbeing%20of%20Future%20Generations/Wellbeing%20Plan%20-%20Projects/Working%20Life%20-%20Projects/WL1%20-%20Projects/Adult%20Community%20Learning%20Area%20Strategy.pdf
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/anaw/2015/2/contents/enacted
https://www.merthyr.gov.uk/media/3299/20170824-statement-of-wellbeing-v2-en.pdf
https://www.merthyr.gov.uk/media/3296/20170824-focus-on-the-future-2017-2022-en.pdf
https://www.merthyr.gov.uk/media/3296/20170824-focus-on-the-future-2017-2022-en.pdf


3

4. WHERE WE WERE

4.1. Focus on the Future: wellbeing in our community was approved by Elected Members at 
the Full Council meeting on 26 July 2017.

4.2. This report focuses on the following wellbeing objective:

Making Skills Work for Merthyr Tydfil: Developing the Workforce of the Future
Highly skilled and qualified people are supported by a local economy that makes full and productive use 
of these skills; where our employers demand, value and make best use of their workforce’s skills.

4.3. Our response to this objective will reflect the work we do within our communities to 
improve the skill level of the workforce.  The key challenge in Merthyr Tydfil is to help 
people develop their resources (skills, knowledge etc.) and tackle the barriers they 
experience so they can become the workforce of the future.

4.4. In Merthyr Tydfil, the Council will focus on the following components and their related 
outcomes in order to achieve our wellbeing objective:

 People having employment opportunities
 People having the basic skills to access learning and training programmes
 People having the skills and qualifications that are suitable for employers’ changing 

needs

5. OUR CONTRIBUTION

Reference to Performance and Projects
5.1. This report focuses on the specific projects that the Council will undertake to deliver our 

wellbeing objectives and contribute to the national wellbeing goals.  There are 2 
wellbeing projects:

 Measurement of Subjective Wellbeing; and
 Pathway to Work – Children Looked After and Care Leavers.

5.2. Key measures of performance (KPI)

5.3. We will judge how the programmes and projects delivered improve the wellbeing of 
participants using the following key indicators.  The key performance indicators respond 
to both the key components laid down in Point 4.5 (above) and the wellbeing projects.

Page 3



4

Key Performance Indicators 2016/17
Achieved

2017/18
Target

2017/18
Actual to 

Date

2018/19
Target

Participants who are in employment after 
leaving the programme

71 81 60
(74% of 

17/18 target)

91

Participants who gain a qualification at 
the end of an ‘out of work’ training 
programme

109 119 107
(90% of 

17/18 target)

129

Participants who gain a qualification at 
the end of an ‘in work’ training programme

165 185 187
(1% above 

17/18 target)

205

Average subjective wellbeing score for 
participants in employability programmes

N/A N/A2 3.53
(3.53 / 5)

0

6. WHERE WE WANT TO BE

6.1. Achieving the wellbeing objective ‘Making skills work for Merthyr Tydfil: Developing the 
workforce of the future’ means we will see improvements in the following areas:

 Programme participants entering employment after leaving an "out of work" training 
programme;

 Programme participants gaining a qualification after leaving a training programme; 
and 

 Programme participants reporting an improvement to their wellbeing.

7. WHERE WE ARE NOW  

General Activity Update
7.1 Employability staff continues to support Trago Mills and recently facilitated their 3-day 

Recruitment Fair.  The Recruitment Fair also involved 3 other local training providers:  
Tydfil Training Consortium Limited; Merthyr Tydfil Institute for the Blind and The 
College, Merthyr Tydfil’s Work Based Learning Team.  

Over 3,300 people attended the Recruitment Fair to gather information about vacancies 
with Trago Mills and to formally make applications.  This was a great opportunity for 
local people not only to find out more about the opportunities available but also to link in 
with training providers for any additional support requirements.  

7.2  Discussions are underway with the Housing Support Team to develop a tenancy 
support course which will allow individuals thinking about a tenancy; experiencing 

2   The measurement of subjective wellbeing tool was rolled out with effect from 1 August 2017

Page 4



5

difficulties with their current tenancy etc. to develop their knowledge of how to maintain 
a secure arrangement.  This will allow us the opportunity to embed employability within 
the course; actively encouraging participants to take up learning to move them closer to 
the labour market. 

Measuring Subjective Wellbeing
7.3 To demonstrate the impact of this smaller-scale wellbeing project, we have included 

some graphs which demonstrate the positive impact the bespoke support offered to 
programme participants is having on their wellbeing.  To date, 14 participants have 
completed the subjective wellbeing tool on 2 occasions to date: on joining the project 
and after having received support from a Employability programme.  The findings are as 
follows:

Pathways to Employment: Children Looked After and Care Leavers
7.4 Referrals to this pathway have increased since the last report.  The Employability Team 

continue to meet with Barnardos on a bi-monthly basis and to date 14 referrals have 
been received for young people (16-24) to source some form of learning, skills training 
and support to move closer to the labour market.

  

8. WHAT WE NEED TO DO NEXT

8.1. Continue to collective subjective wellbeing data from all project participants to contribute 
to the developing corporate understanding of the wellbeing of its customers.

8.2. Continue to work with 3 key employers within the town:

0 0.5 1 1.5 2 2.5 3 3.5 4

Good Relationships

Meaning & 
Purpose

Good Feelings

Participant wellbeing on joining

Participant wellbeing with support

Subjective Wellbeing: 
Early Impact all Employability Programmes

Impact on wellbeing following initial support 
from Employability Programme team*

Wellbeing 
Score on 

joining

Wellbeing 
Score with 

support

+/- 
Difference

Good 
Feelings

3/5 3.96/5 +0.96

Meaning & 
Purpose

3.25/5 3.80/5 +0.55

Good 
Relationships

3.27/5 3.69/5 +0.42

*  Based on status review on 14 participants

Page 5



6

- Marks and Spencer;

- General Dynamics; and 

- Trago Mills.

8.3. Following receipt of the Council’s indicative funding allocation from Welsh Government; 
we will continue discussions corporately regarding efficiencies which could prove a 
significant risk to the running costs of the Neighbourhood Learning Centre as we move 
forward.

8.4. In the last report, we referenced the fact that our current programmes only reflect 
performance in relation to the Council’s employability programmes.  There were 2 key 
pieces of work within the Economic Growth Strategy/Action Plan which would need to 
be explored in order to be able to cumulatively collate data from all partners.  This could 
show a clearer picture on how the Economic Growth Partnership will achieve and 
deliver on improved performance:

 To develop a better understanding of key partner programmes and the 
associated targets/outputs and how we can share this information 

 Data mapping of all partner programmes against Key performance measures 

To progress this matter, this has now been formally discussed with partners involved in 
the Economic Growth Partnership and the potential design of the process is being 
discussed at each meeting.  It is envisaged that the partnership will have a process that 
measures partners’ outputs in place by the end of January 2017.  Due to the new award 
of the Work and Health Programme to Remploy, they now actively need to be engaged 
to introduce them to the partners.  This is the primary DWP contract awarded and will 
be a significant project pan Wales.

8.5 Continue to work with Housing Support Team to develop a tenancy support course 
which will allow individuals to develop ways to maintain a secure tenancy arrangement.  

  ALYN OWEN
CHIEF OFFICER 
COMMUNITY REGENERATION

CLLR GERAINT THOMAS
CABINET MEMBER FOR

REGENERATION & PUBLIC PROTECTION   

EVIDENCE
 Statement of Wellbeing
 Focus on the Future: Wellbeing in our Community
 Making Skills work for Merthyr Tydfil: Wellbeing Strategy on a Page
 Initial Wellbeing Report: Making Skills Work for Merthyr Tydfil: Developing the Workforce of the Future

Does the report contain any issues that may affect the Council’s 
Constitution? NO

Page 6

https://www.merthyr.gov.uk/media/3299/20170824-statement-of-wellbeing-v2-en.pdf
https://www.merthyr.gov.uk/media/3296/20170824-focus-on-the-future-2017-2022-en.pdf
file:///W:/Wellbeing%20of%20Future%20Generations/Wellbeing%20SOAP/By%20Objective/WL%201%20-%20SOAP%20-%20Alyn%20Owen.pptx
http://democracy.merthyr.gov.uk/documents/s37009/Committee%20Report.pdf?LLL=0


7

APPENDIX I

PROJECT 1:  Measuring Subjective Wellbeing

Project Title Measuring Subjective Wellbeing

Project Manager Deb Ryan-Newton

Report Period From 1 April 2017 Report Period To 30 September 2017

Accountable for Delivery Alyn Owen

Services <identified by MTFP>

Wellbeing Objective Making Skills Work for Merthyr Tydfil: Developing the Workforce of the Future

Component(s)  People having employment opportunities
 People having the basic skills to access learning and training programmes
 People having the skills and qualifications that are suitable for employers' 

changing needs

Project Description  The project uses a clear methodology for the recording of the subjective 
wellbeing for all project participants.  

 Participant Advisors will use the intelligence gathered in one-to-one catch up 
meeting with participants to support motivation of participants as they 
continue their progression towards achieving their individual goals.  

 It will also demonstrate the ‘distance travelled’ by each participant following 
their engagement with the project.

 This activity will also support the Local Authority to develop its understanding 
of the wellbeing of its customers.

Expected Benefits  Intelligence gathered from participants will be used to motivate them as they 
work towards their own goals

 This activity will support the organisation to further develop its understanding 
of the wellbeing of its customers 

Rationale for the Project Research shows that people who report no educational qualifications are more 
likely to be in relatively low income and people who are not in employment with 
no qualification are more likely to be economically inactive.  This is important 
because a comparatively high proportion of people in Merthyr Tydfil do not have 
any qualifications; we need to improve employability skills for those without jobs.  

The risk of poorer outcomes for people with low or no skills are strongly linked 
with the likelihood they are in lower paid work; experiencing in-work poverty and 
having lower resilience when dealing with issues or problems.  Evidence also 
shows poorer mental and physical health outcomes are often experienced by 
those with low or no skills.

Start Date 01/08/2017

Finish Date 31 March 2020

Highlight Report Author Deb Ryan-Newton

Page 7



8

Project Information
1. Measurement of Subjective Wellbeing

Working with programme participants, the Authority will: 

 Secure information around the subjective wellbeing of project participants and use this 
intelligence to measure the impact the support offered on participants’ wellbeing.

Key Actions

 Undertake the subjective wellbeing exercise with individuals at the point they engage with the 
programme.

 Process the data and secure an wellbeing score which you can use as a baseline
 Undertake the subjective wellbeing exercise with individuals at the point the participant leaves 

the programme.
 Evaluate the impact of the project on the participant’s wellbeing.

                                           

KPI4 Subjective wellbeing score of participants in employability programmes

Wellbeing Score Wellbeing Components 
Breakdown at October 2017

EVENT DATE COUNT AVERAGE 
SCORE DATE COUNT AVERAGE 

SCORE
Good 

Feeling
Meaning & 
Purpose

Good 
Relation-

ships

Employability 
Programme 47 2.77 207 3.53 3.47 3.55 3.57

Bridges into 
Work 2

Aug 
2017 18 2.35 Oct 

2017 47 3.59 3.56 3.57 3.66

Core 
Employability

Aug 
2017 21 2.87 Oct 

2017 52 3.50 3.42 3.47 3.62

Communities 4 
Work

Aug 
2017 8 3.09 Oct 

2017 58 3.38 3.30 3.46 3.37

Working Skills 4 
Adults 2

Aug 
2017 N/A N/A Oct 

2017 50 3.64 3.58 3.72 3.61

Progress since last highlight report

Key updates following the initial report submitted for consideration on 12 September 2017 are as 
follows:

 Since the project started in August 2017, we have engaged with 207 participants who have undertaken 
the subjective wellbeing exercise.  

 Following feedback received from Elected Members at a previous scrutiny meeting, we are amending the 
way in which we present full performance data.  

Page 8



9

Targets for the next period

 Undertake the subjective wellbeing exercise with individuals at the point they engage with the 
programme.

 Process the data and secure an wellbeing score which you can use as a baseline

 Undertake the subjective wellbeing exercise with individuals at the point the participant leaves the 
programme.

 Evaluate the impact of the project on the participant’s wellbeing.

(d) Project Risks

Assessment of
Risk

Risk
No.

Risk
Description

I L S

Impact on 
Delivery/Benefits

Decision or 
action 
required

Responsibl
e person for 
action

Date for 
decision 
or action

1. Failure to collect information  from 
residents taking part in Employability 
Service Provision

2 1 2 Unable to register or 
record data, therefore 
no subjective 
wellbeing score can 
be produced.

Ensure that 
subjective 
wellbeing is 
an agenda 
item at every 
team meeting

Offer 
feedback to 
the team on 
volume of 
returns and 
share 
feedback on 
the scores 
being 
produced.

Deb Ryan- 
Newton

Ongoing

2. Failure to process the subjective 
wellbeing returns

2 1 2 Unable to produce a 
score

Ensure 
administration 
team process 
information 
monthly

Gaynor 
Williams
Carrie Pugh
Leanne 
Williams

Ongoing - 
monthly

3. Ensure new team members as and 
when recruited are fully informed and 
trained on the Wellbeing of Future 
Generations Act and the subjective 
wellbeing tool

1 1 1 Knowledge of Act and 
Toolkit could deplete 
as staff leave

Ensure staff 
induction 
includes full 
details on 
Future 
Generations 
and tool kit.

Deb Ryan 
Newton

All 
Coordinators 
within the 
Employability 
Service Area

Ongoing

(e) Project Issues

There are currently no identified issues linked to delivery of this project.

Page 9



10

PROJECT 2:  Pathway to Employment – Children Looked After & Care Leavers

Project Title Pathway to Employment – Children Looked After & Care Leavers

Project Manager Deb Ryan-Newton

Report Period From 1 April 2017 Report Period To 30 September 2017

Accountable for Delivery Alyn Owen

Services <identified by MTFP>

Wellbeing Objective Making Skills Work for Merthyr Tydfil: Developing the Workforce of the Future

Component(s)  People having employment opportunities

Project Description The purpose is to 
 Support young people for whom MTCBC acts as Corporate Parent(including 

those placed outside of the County Borough) to identify and take up 
opportunities so that they do not become NEET (not in education, 
employment or training);

 Increase Social Services understanding and awareness of internal Council 
services that offer employment and training opportunities so that young 
people in care can access this specialist support; 

 Enable the Employability Service to raise the profile of the Economic Growth 
Partnership (EGP) so it more effectively support services i.e. Barnardo’s, 
Social Services, Housing etc.; and 

 Ensure the EGP’s services/contracts and resources that are supporting 
people with learning, skills and employment will allow individuals to be 
effectively sign posted.  Individuals will have more choice in their chosen 
employment sector which the EGP are supporting on current and future 
recruitment needs etc.

Expected Benefits  Increase in training and employment opportunities for young people in care, 
who live in Merthyr Tydfil  or out of county 

 Effective Corporate Parenting leading to better outcomes for children and 
young people in care

Rationale for the Project The Population Needs Assessment identified the disparity in outcomes between 
children and young people in care and their non-care peers.  Care leavers are 
significantly more likely to be NEET and research shows that people without 
qualifications are more likely to live in poverty and have poor physical and mental 
health.

As Corporate Parents we have a duty of care to ensure the young people in our 
care have access to the same opportunities as their non-care peers and can gain 
the qualifications ad skills needed to secure jobs.

Start Date 01/08/2017

Finish Date 01 August 2018

Highlight Report Author Deb Ryan-Newton

Page 10



11

Project Information
Working with colleagues in Social Services, the Authority’s Employability Service will: 

 Further develop links with Barnardo’s (a commissioned service provider engaged by Social 
Services) to integrate better with the Local Authority’s NEETs and Employability Services so that 
more choices are made available to Children Looked After and Care Leavers.  This will also allow 
other aspects of Social Services to have a far better understanding of what provision exists locally 
and regionally.

Key actions are:

 Record and monitor referrals to identify key actions undertaken to support young people (e.g.) sign-
posting to meet individual’s needs

 Secure and progress referrals from Barnardo’s that are wider than Merthyr Tydfil residents so the 
Employability Service can meet demand using links from the Economic Growth Partnership along 
with wider regional links from Communities for Work, Bridges into Work 2 and Working Skills for 
Adults 2 (areas can cover Merthyr Tydfil, Bridgend, Blaenau Gwent, Caerphilly, Rhondda Cynon Taf 
and Torfaen).  

 Begin scoping options in local authorities wider than those mentioned (e.g.) Swansea; Rhondda 
Cynon Taf.

(b) Project Performance

Total number of children looked after by the Local Authority3

Annual Performance Data Annual Target LA Rank

Cohort 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2017/18

MT 175 165 140 145 N/A N/A N/A

Eligible for project - - - 54 54 N/A N/A

Local Measure Number of young people supported via this project that have identified a progression 
route 

Quarterly Performance Data Annual Target

2016/17 Qtr. 1 Qtr. 2 Qtr. 3 Qtr. 4 2017/18
Cumulative 

Total 2017/18

MT N/A 0 5/54
(9.25%)

9/54
(16.66%)

14
(26.93%)

14
(26.93%) N/A

Risks and Issues

There are currently no identified risks or issues linked to delivery of this project.

3   This data refers to ALL children looked after by the Council.  However, only a proportion of the young people falling into this category are eligible to receive    
      support from the Pathways to Employment Project  - this figure has been listed underneath the overall figure for ease of reference

Page 11



12

Appendix II

Participants engaged with the Employability Programmes

Annual Performance Data 
Cumulative Totals

Cumulative 
Total Target

Percentage 
against 2020 

Target

Employability Programme 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 At Qtr 2 - 2017 2020

Bridges into Work 2 - - 14 100 163 439 163 / 439
(37.13%)

Communities 4 Work - 
Adults - - N/A 157 250 759 250 / 759

(32.94%)

Communities 4 Work – 
Youth - - N/A 110 160 360 160 / 360

(44.44%)

Core Employability - - 250 211 625 N/A -

Working Skills 4 Adults 2 - - 37 260 489 1118 489 / 1118
(43.74%)

Year 11 leavers from school in Wales known to be not in education, employment or 
training (NEETs)

Annual Performance Data Annual Target LA Rank

Cohort 2012/13 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2017/18

MT 6.2% 1.9% 2.6% 1.6% 1.0%4 1.0% N/A 1/225

Wales 4.2% 3.7% 3.1% 2.8% 2.0% 2.0% N/A N/A

4   Verified data release on 30 June 2017 – please note this data is available annually
5   Joint best performing with Ceredigion and Rhondda Cynon Taf 

Page 12



*Responsible authorities are defined in the Licensing Act 2003 as authorities who are able to comment on applications 
made under the act. They can apply for a review of a licence under certain circumstances. Certain applications need to be 
served on all or some responsible authorities on the same day an application is made to the licensing authority.

Civic Centre, Castle Street, 
Merthyr Tydfil    CF47 8AN

Main Tel: 01685 725000 www.merthyr.gov.uk

SCRUTINY COMMITTEE REPORT

To:  Chair, Ladies and Gentlemen

Continued Development of the Town Centre

1.0 SUMMARY OF THE REPORT

1.1 This report highlights how the Council currently influences the Town Centre with 
particular reference to the Town Centre Partnership, Economic Regeneration and 
Public Protection Services.

  
1.2 The report includes the Evening Economy Action Plan produced by the Town Centre 

Partnership along with an example of an assessment of Glebeland Street and an 
overview of a Town Centre Perception Survey recently conducted.  

2.0 RECOMMENDATION(S)

2.1 That the scrutiny committee discusses and comments on the issues set out in the 
report.

3.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND

3.1 The Committee has requested a report on the following:-

Continued Development of the Town Centre - i.e. public protection and community 
safety. Need to look at different uses for town centre e.g. leisure usage and night 
time economy e.g. places to eat. Need to address homelessness and law and order 
issues.  There needs to be co-ordinated work e.g. how does the night time economy 
interact with licencing and trading standards regulations?

Date Written 23rd November 2017
Report Author Steven Peters
Service Area Regeneration and Public 

Protection
Committee Date 5th December 2017

Page 13

Agenda Item 4



*Responsible authorities are defined in the Licensing Act 2003 as authorities who are able to comment on applications 
made under the act. They can apply for a review of a licence under certain circumstances. Certain applications need to be 
served on all or some responsible authorities on the same day an application is made to the licensing authority.

3.2 Night Time Economies (NTE) are a valuable asset. They create jobs, revenue and 
provide opportunities for people to socialise. However they can be associated with 
anti-social behaviour; criminal activity and substance misuse.

3.3      The night time economy can be a complex policy area to tackle involving a broad 
range of agencies and stakeholders who need to work collectively to ensure a safe 
and enjoyable journey through the night time economy. 

3.4 Understanding the night time economy at a local level is crucial so that effective 
prevention strategies and enforcement can be implemented which are based on 
intelligence and accurate information. 

3.5 Members are being asked to consider what we want our night time economy to look 
like? 

4.0 WHERE WE WERE 

4.1 In a recently published WG document – A Framework for Managing the Night Time 
Economy in Wales 3 objectives are highlighted. They are - Understanding the Night 
Time economy; promotion of sustainable environments and prevention strategies to 
create a safe and diverse NTE and supporting effective multi – agency management 
of the NTE and enforcement at the local level. 

4.2 Previously these objectives were addressed within silos. A restructure of the 
management arrangements within the Authority placed Regeneration and Public 
Protection Services under one Chief Officer.  This has facilitated the sharing of 
information, intelligence and resources internally with the development of co-
ordinated actions with partners to address identified problems. 

5.0 WHERE WE ARE NOW

 5.1 The Town Centre Partnership has produced a short term action plan (Appendix A) 
under the theme of a Safe, Secure and Attractive Town Centre. The Action Plan 
identifies actions under the themes of Safe, Secure and Attractive. It also identifies a 
lead for those responsible in delivering those actions and an associated date. The 
Action Plan addresses the 3 objectives highlighted in the Framework for Managing 
the Night Time Economy in Wales referred to in section 4 above.

5.2 Officers from Regeneration, Public Protection and Community Safety are responsible 
for delivering some of the actions within the plan. 

5.3 The Action Plan identifies the following issues that require exploring, monitoring or 
improving –

 Town Centre Patrol Strategy; 
 Reporting of all incidents; 
 Store Net
 Pubwatch;
 Exclusions;

Page 14



*Responsible authorities are defined in the Licensing Act 2003 as authorities who are able to comment on applications 
made under the act. They can apply for a review of a licence under certain circumstances. Certain applications need to be 
served on all or some responsible authorities on the same day an application is made to the licensing authority.

 Bus Station; 
 Food Standards; 
 Concentration of support agencies; 
 Night Shelter/Rough Sleepers; 
 Street Lighting; 
 Licensing; 
 CCTV
 Private Security Agreements; 
 Perception Survey; 
 Cultural Offer; 
 Events
 Transport

The issues being considered under each heading is contained within the Action Plan. 
Standard Operating Procedures for various issues e.g. rough sleeping and drug litter are 
also being considered that provide for a framework of responses. 

5.4 In partnership with the Business Improvement District a Perception Survey 
undertaken of the Town Centre (Appendix B) has resulted in the commencement of 
street by street audits and actions. For example – Glebeland Street has been 
assessed on the following areas - Building Frontages; Street Furniture; Highways; 
Food Hygiene Ratings and CCTV. Further details are provided in Appendix C. The 
top 4 areas will be targeted this financial year for physical improvements via the 
Town Centre Partnership. The Enterprise Board and MTEC are addressing 
vacancies and diversification in the town centre.

5.5 The challenges around Homelessness were highlighted recently in a report to this 
Scrutiny committee on the 24th October 2017. The report included information on the 
increasing demands on our Housing Solutions team and the work and projects 
already undertaken or proposed to address homelessness. 

5.6 With particular reference to the Town Centre, the visibility of homelessness the 
presence of tents in particular, has decreased. However the rough sleeper count 
undertaken on the 9th November 2017 (22.00 – 01.00 hours) as part of an annual 
WG exercise identified the former St Tydfil’s Hospital as a location for approximately 
7 rough sleepers. 

5.7 Finding premises each year for the provision of a Night Shelter with the necessary 
support to run the Shelter remains an issue. However preparations for the provision 
of a Night Shelter this year are progressing.  

5.8 To discuss homelessness within the authority; on the 14th November 2017 an event 
on Homelessness was undertaken at the Orbit Centre with interested parties invited. 

5.9 Public Protection Services have the regulatory responsibilities for elements of the 
NTE which include the Licensing of alcohol and late night refreshment premises as 
well as licensing the taxi trade. This includes the monitoring of the NTE especially 
around sales to underage and premises not running according to the Licensing 

Page 15



*Responsible authorities are defined in the Licensing Act 2003 as authorities who are able to comment on applications 
made under the act. They can apply for a review of a licence under certain circumstances. Certain applications need to be 
served on all or some responsible authorities on the same day an application is made to the licensing authority.

objectives. The Service also provides permits for the provision of Tables and Chairs 
on the highway where appropriate. 

5.10 Public Protection Services carry out routine monitoring visits on premises along with 
specific intelligence led operations.

5.11 From a Public Protection perspective the characteristics of the Night Time Economy 
currently are:-

 Evening town Centre venues predominately wet premises
 Normally a Saturday night busy night over a weekend
 Pub licensing hours finish at 12/1am. Night clubs 2am
 Increase in popularity of bands/live music.

5.12 The challenges and issues faced by Public Protection Services are included in the 
Town Centre Partnership Action Plan. Frustratingly violent crime intelligence from 
A&E is not specific in terms of identifying problem premises. This prevents the 
opportunity for responsible authorities to apply for a review of licensed premises. 

5.13 The Licensing Service receives road traffic concerns over hot spot areas namely 
Pontmorlais and Dynevor Street. They tend to be busy areas with a mix of vehicles 
and intoxicated members of the public at specific times of the evening.

5.14 Environmental Health Service has had to deal with residents concerns around noise 
from licensed premises.  

5.15 Food premises of a certain size are being offered the opportunity to apply for a grant 
(December 2017 – March 2018) to ensure they maintain or improve their Food 
Hygiene Rating for two years after a grant is awarded. The grant is aimed at 
premises with a minimum Food Hygiene Rating of at least 3 in order to drive up food 
hygiene ratings.  On request Environmental Health Officers will support lower rated 
businesses (0-2) to encourage them to apply for a re-rating which will facilitate 
access to the grant funding if they improve.

5.16 Prioritising the use of our resources within Environmental Health and the two 
dedicated Licensing Officers both reactive and pro-active is a challenge. 

5.17 There are opportunities to influence the Night Time Economy. Public Protection 
Services can influence partner agencies via groups such as Pubwatch, crime 
reduction groups under the Public Service Board and with fellow responsible 
authorities*.

5.18  The authority can influence the Licensing regime through its Licensing Policy and 
taxi licensing policy and procedures.

 

Page 16



*Responsible authorities are defined in the Licensing Act 2003 as authorities who are able to comment on applications 
made under the act. They can apply for a review of a licence under certain circumstances. Certain applications need to be 
served on all or some responsible authorities on the same day an application is made to the licensing authority.

6.0 WHERE WE WANT TO BE 

6.1 We want to be capable of delivering on our wellbeing objectives and those of the 
Public Service Board currently out for consultation so that our Town Centre is 
attractive and safe. 

 
6.2 Strategically – what is a realistic ambition for the Authority for its late night economy 

taking into account demographics of the area? Do we wish to become a regional 
centre within the valley areas attracting people from outside Merthyr Tydfil? How do 
we attract this clientele? 

6.3 Do we want to utilise the flexibility of the Licensing Act 2003 around opening hours 
and types of venues strategically placing our offering that can complement Swansea 
and Cardiff rather than competing?

6.4 How will any ambition take account of the Merthyr Leisure Village?

7.0 WHAT WE NEED TO DO NEXT 

7.1 In a report produced by LGiU, the Local Democracy Think Tank drew on case 
studies from across England and Wales to develop recommendations for local 
authorities.

1. We need to develop a clear vision for the Night Time Economy. 

2. Continue to share intelligence - Sharing this intelligence increases the insight 
and the value it can bring and supports a coherent strategy.

3. Continue to build partnerships - Partnerships between all those with a stake in 
this area – police, local authorities, emergency services, businesses and 
communities – are an essential foundation on which to create a successful 
and safe night time economy.

4. Continue to diversify our economy - Attracting restaurants, music venues and 
other entertainment options to locate in our town centre will allow people to 
choose from a range of alternative activities; to encourage a wider range of 
people into town in the evening and night time, and to reduce alcohol-related 
crime and injury. 

5. Continue to break down silos - Often the night time economy is dealt with in a 
reactionary way, sorting out problems as they arise. But by working across the 
council and with our partners a more proactive and positive approach can be 
taken.

6. Nominate a champion - Nominating a single person who will be the single 
point of accountability for all things related to the night time economy will bring 
together all those working on these issues in the local area.

Page 17



*Responsible authorities are defined in the Licensing Act 2003 as authorities who are able to comment on applications 
made under the act. They can apply for a review of a licence under certain circumstances. Certain applications need to be 
served on all or some responsible authorities on the same day an application is made to the licensing authority.

8.0 CONTRIBUTION TO WELLBEING OBJECTIVES

8.1 Addressing the Night Time Economy contributes substantially to achieving the Well 
Being objective of Living Well - Developing Safer Communities and Working Life -   
Developing the environment and infrastructure for businesses to flourish.

ELLIS COOPER 
DEPUTY CHIEF EXECUTIVE

CLLR GERAINT THOMAS 
REGENERATION AND PUBLIC 

PROTECTTION

BACKGROUND PAPERS
Title of 

Document(s)
Document(s) Date Document Location

Framework for 
Managing the Night 
Time Economy in 
Wales

Building a vibrant
night time economy

Report to 
Regeneration and 
Public Protection 
Scrutiny on 
Homelessness

Summer 2017 

July 2016

October 2017

http://gov.wales/docs/dhss/publications/161207nte-
summary-en.PDF

https://www.lgiu.org.uk/wp-
content/uploads/2016/07/Building-a-vibrant-night-time-
economy.pdf

http://mtcbcelecreg:9070/documents/g2752/Public%20reports%20pack%2024th-Oct-

2017%2014.30%20Scrutiny%20Regeneration%20and%20Public%20Protection.pdf?T=10

Does the report contain any issue that may impact the 
Council’s Constitution? 

No

Page 18

http://gov.wales/docs/dhss/publications/161207nte-summary-en.PDF
http://gov.wales/docs/dhss/publications/161207nte-summary-en.PDF
https://www.lgiu.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2016/07/Building-a-vibrant-night-time-economy.pdf
https://www.lgiu.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2016/07/Building-a-vibrant-night-time-economy.pdf
https://www.lgiu.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2016/07/Building-a-vibrant-night-time-economy.pdf
http://mtcbcelecreg:9070/documents/g2752/Public%20reports%20pack%2024th-Oct-2017%2014.30%20Scrutiny%20Regeneration%20and%20Public%20Protection.pdf?T=10
http://mtcbcelecreg:9070/documents/g2752/Public%20reports%20pack%2024th-Oct-2017%2014.30%20Scrutiny%20Regeneration%20and%20Public%20Protection.pdf?T=10


Merthyr Town Centre – A Safe, Secure and Attractive Town Centre Short Term Action Plan (0-6 months)

Safe

Town Centre Patrol Strategy Ensure peak times daytime and evening there is a dedicated police team for the town 
centre.

A town centre patrol strategy is adopted and implemented

SWP/KON

SWP

Nov 17

Jan 18

Reporting of all incidents Awareness exercise with all town centre businesses of reporting to 101

TCP Letter to business for participation

Quarterly update of town centre crime stats to TCP

Tactile Business Crime  - Emma Davies

BCRP

TCP

SWP

BCRP

Dec 17

Dec 17

Jan 18

Nov 17

Store Net Monthly meetings with Town Centre Beat Manager and BCRP

Dedicated SWP officer daily for BCRP 

Digital Launch - PR

SWP

SWP

BCRP

Nov 17

Nov 17

Nov 17

Pubwatch Improve the relationship with enforcement agencies and local publicans

Nite Net radio network, withdrawal 7th Nov- explore options for 2018

PL

BCRP

Dec 17

Nov 17

Exclusions Support the BCRP in obtaining swift resolution and exclusions for repeat offenders

Ensure the right exclusions for the town centre are obtained with effective 
communication with BCRP

SWP

BCRP

Jan 18

Feb 18 APPEN
DIX A

P
age 19



Crime Profile of Top 10 offenders BCRP Dec 17

Bus Station Through the town centre patrol strategy a strong police presence is visible in the area 
due to the lack of CCTV and reports of illegal activities.

Support for the night shelter during its operation and reassurance for the public on 
perceived issues

SWP

SWP/RE

Dec17

Dec 17

Secure

Food Standards Support business to access the food and drinks grants to improve hygiene ratings.

EHO to advise grant board on support required

Marketing Strategy linked to DMP 

Improve and increase street café presence

MTEC

SG

LH/AP

PL/AP/RP

Nov –Feb 
17
Dec 17

Mar 18

Mar 18

Concentration of support agencies Explore opportunities for community led services

Liaise with support agencies to ensure effective delivery and co-ordinated approach with 
the third sector (event 14th Nov)

RE

RE

Oct 17

Ongoing

Night Shelter/Rough Sleepers Confirmation of location, and neighbouring businesses/residents informed.

Press Release and FAQ’s for the public

RE

RE

Dec17?

Dec 17

Street Lighting Audit of street lighting within the Town Centre

Repair and renewal of lights within bus station 

CR

RP

Feb 18

Complete 

Licensing Monthly meeting with publicans that are in Red status PL Ongoing

P
age 20



Liaise with SIA to review staff operating in Merthyr Town Centre 

Incidents that are related to licensed premises in the town centre are reported to the 
licensing team 

Identity Prevention Report -  University of South Wales

Illegal Taxi Trade Operation 

PL

RE/MJ/SWP

PL

PL

Complete 

Ongoing 

Pending

Dec 17

CCTV Joint press release on the co-ordinated approach of CCTV and SWP to tackle crime 

Liaise with CCTV regarding any obstructions to sight lines (through perception survey)

Formal Review of CCTV

Mobile CCTV funding 

SWP

RP

AO/RE

RE

Dec 17

Ongoing

Jan 18

Pending 

Private Security Agreements Liaise with the three private security teams to reach an agreement/SLA on a town centre 
operations 

Explore training opportunities 

RE

RE

Jan 18

Attractive

Perception Survey Implementation of the street by street audits and actions (see separate action plan)
Glebeland Street:
Shopfront Improvements
Public Realm Street Furniture 
Cleansing

RP

AP
PS/RP
PJ

Ongoing

Ongoing
Complete
Pending

P
age 21



Vacant Properties

Church Street Audit

LW

RP/AP

Pending

Dec 17

Cultural Offer Creation of a strategic cultural steering group to co-ordinate the venues across the town 
centre 

Support for existing business to diversify their offer

Engagement with investors

Explore coordinated marketing of venues and offer

CL

MTEC

CL

LH/CL

Jan 18

Ongoing 

Dec 17 

Jan 18

Events Review and update the existing Town Centre Events Strategy for 2018 RP/AP Jan 18 

Transport Discussions with bus operators to increase evening services (linked to improved 
provision at new bus station)

Continue to assess need for designated taxi ranks for the evening economy 

CL/RP

PL/AP

Ongoing 

Mar 18

P
age 22



Overview of Town Centre Perception Survey 

Background

i. Aim & Methodology

This is the first time that Storecheckers has carried out an assessment of the perception gained by visitors 
to Merthyr Tydfil town Centre, completed on behalf of The Big Heart Merthyr Tydfil BID.
 
The audit of visitor perception was completed in line with the methodology adopted on similar projects 
completed for other Business Improvement Districts. 

Within this, researchers all monitored the same ten sections of the centre, or walks, which had been 
previously agreed with Merthyr BID’s Senior Management. Each researcher made a single visit to the centre 
and completed a route that covered the ten ‘walks’ and appraised standards covering key elements to 
include cleanliness, comfort, litter bins, illegal parking, signage, lighting, safety and overall attractiveness.

Researchers were, where possible, to arrive by car to ensure that car park standards were also monitored.

The visits were completed by researchers new to the centre with a remit to give separate qualitative 
feedback on all of the walks that they covered with reference to each of the targeted standards, this 
feedback to be supported by pre-determined grading’s within the scorecard reports. 

ii Completion of fieldwork

Fieldwork within Merthyr Tydfil Centre ran from 29 April 2017 to 12 May 2017.
 
Each Researcher review was completed on separate dates and of the eight carried out one was completed 
on every day of the week, with eighth covering a second Saturday.
 
The times of the eight reviews was set to cover the trading and the split of timings for this project is 
detailed below:

Morning 2
Lunchtime 3
Afternoon 2
Evening 1

iii. Results

a. By walk

Based on the eight reviews completed, the average rating was 78.4%.
The number of sectors with 85%+ averages was three, with Penderyn Square achieving the highest 
rating; 94.2%.
Two sectors scored below 70%, with Church Street falling fractionally short of this with 69.6%. The 
weakest area was Victoria Street / Wheatsheaf Lane with an average of 62.0%.

The graph below shows the trends by sector for this assignment:

APPENDIX B

Page 23



30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

LWR 
High 
St.

Beacons 
Place

Graham 
St.

Victoria 
St.

Castle 
St.

Penderyn 
Sq.

Glebeland 
Place

Glebeland 
St.

John 
St.

Church 
St.

Overall 
Average

2017 70.2% 81.6% 87.5% 62.0% 87.0% 94.2% 82.2% 72.4% 76.4% 69.6% 78.4%

Merthyr  Perception Review

b. By Centre Review or ‘Route’

The overall average is as per the data above, i.e. 78.4%.

Within this there was broad consistency of perception amongst the ‘visitors’ with the spread of scores for 
the combined route of ten walks and street vendors, where present, ranging from 82.8% to 67.7%, a spread 
of 15.1%.
Just five of the 80 ‘walks’ scored 100%, after meeting in full all the standards being assessed for that part of 
the centre. 
Street vendors were noted in four areas, three of which received full marks.
Two areas scored below 40%. These were Victoria Street and Street Vendors on 29 April, 2017.

R ank D at e
Ov era l l  
A v erage

L
W

R
 H

ig
h

 S
tr

e
e

t 
  

  
  

B
e

a
c

o
n

s
 P

la
c

e

G
r
a

h
a

m
 S

tr
e

e
t

V
ic

to
r
ia

 S
tr

e
e

t

C
a

s
tl

e
 S

tr
e

e
t

G
le

b
e

la
n

d
 P

la
c

e

G
le

b
e

la
n

d
 S

tr
e

e
t

J
o

h
n

 S
tr

e
e

t

C
h

u
r
c

h
 S

tr
e

e
t

S
tr

e
e

t 
V

e
n

d
o

r
s

1 2017-05-06 82.8 81.3 84.4 87.5 81.3 81.3 87.5 71.9 73.3 81.3 100.0

2 2017-05-03 82.7 78.9 100.0 89.5 57.9 89.5 92.1 71.1 75.0 77.8

3 2017-05-07 82.1 75.0 93.8 100.0 65.6 100.0 90.6 53.1 84.4 60.0

4 2017-05-08 81.2 75.0 93.3 87.5 84.4 93.8 93.3 71.9 56.7 64.0 100.0

5 2017-05-09 79.4 78.1 75.0 84.4 68.8 75.0 81.3 84.4 62.5 84.4

6 2017-05-04 77.3 56.3 78.1 84.4 65.6 84.4 75.0 81.5 77.8 76.0 100.0

7 2017-05-12 72.6 65.6 71.9 81.3 40.6 75.0 81.3 87.5 81.5 48.1

8 2017-04-29 67.7 50.0 55.6 85.2 24.0 96.9 53.3 59.4 100.0 60.0 0.0

78.4 70.2 81.6 87.5 62.0 87.0 82.2 72.4 76.4 69.6 75.0

84.4

94.2Ov era l l  A v erage

96.3

90.6

87.5

100.0

100.0

96.9

 P
e

n
d

e
r
y

n
 S

q
u

a
r
e

96.9

Sector consistency

Page 24



Sector consistency is assessed by the range between the highest and lowest score achieved for that walk.

There were two with a high to low spread of under 20%; Penderyn Square & Graham Street / Market 
Square, with ranges of 16% and 19% respectively.
 
One sector had a spread of over 60%: 

Victoria Street / Wheatsheaf Range of 60%, from 24% to 84%

v. Key Trends

a. Car parks

Six of the eight researchers all drove to Merthyr and were asked to make their own choice for parking. The 
following car parks were selected:

2017-04-29 Pontmorlais Car Park

2017-05-03 High Street Carpark

2017-05-06 New multi-storey opposite Castle Hotel

2017-05-07 Pontmorlais car park, High Street, Merthyr Tydfil, CF47 8UB.

2017-05-08 Castle Multi Storey Car Park near Castle Street.

2017-05-09 St Tydfil Car Park, located just off College Boulevard and Avenue de Clichy.

Four of the five standards in this section achieved 100%, these were:

Were there any free spaces?
Was it reasonably priced? 
Did you feel confident in leaving your vehicle there?
Did you feel safe and secure when parking your vehicle?

For the fifth, ‘Was a car park easy to find?’, 67% answered ‘Yes’.

b. General maintenance and litter

Maintenance of the area

Within this part of the review, there was a mixed performance from both General Maintenance of the area 
and Litter.

 ‘Area maintenance’ was assessed using a scale of 1 = Needs serious attention, 2 = Room for Improvement, 
3 = Acceptable, 4 = Good Condition, 5 = Excellent.  

60% of areas were deemed either ‘Good’ or ‘Excellent’. 

However, 13% were classed as having ‘Room for improvement’, 24% as ‘Acceptable’ and 4% were given the 
lowest grading of ‘Needs serious attention’. 

Page 25



20%

40%

24%

13%

4%

5- Excellent

4- Good

3- Acceptable

2- Room for Improvement

1 – Needs  serious attention

2017

Maintenance of area

Litter free

‘Litter Free’ scored only 59% overall for the top two ratings of ‘Spotless’ and ‘Clean’.
Of concern, 14% of areas were ‘Unkempt’ and 25% deemed ‘Acceptable’.  The lowest rating of ‘Very bad’ 
was received by 3%.

18%

41%

25%

14%

3%

5 - Spotless

4 - Clean

3 - Acceptable

2 - Unkempt

1 - Very bad

2017

Litter free

Bin availability
Bin availability was noted in 68 of the 80 sectors reviewed, i.e. in 85% of the ‘walks’ assessed.
 
Bins overflowing
Bin emptying was not carried out on a timely basis across the centre, with 12% of ‘walks’, or 8/68, having 
bins classed as overflowing.

Of the eight areas that failed, three were on High Street.
Uncollected rubbish bags
 

Page 26



‘Uncollected Rubbish Bags/Litter’ also appeared to be an issue with these being noted in 26% of the areas, 
so one quarter of the ‘walks’ failed on this standard. 

High Street failed in seven of its eight reviews, whilst Victoria Street did not meet the target on five 
occasions.

c. Signage

Directional signage present

86% of areas were noted to have had Directional signage present.
 
Clarity and adequacy of signage

This review of the ‘Effectiveness and Clarity’ of signage was graded on a ‘1 – 5’ scale used where 1 = Poor 
and 5 = Excellent. 

Where signage was available, 41% of ‘walks’ were rated ‘Effective’ and 51% ‘Excellent’ so that 92% had one 
of the top two grades. 

Significantly, only one of the areas were classed as below ’Adequate’.

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

5 - Excellent 4 - Effective 3 - 
Adequate 2 - Unclear 1 - Poor

2017 41% 51% 7% 1% 0%

Signage - Effectiveness and clarity

d. Parking, Safety and Pavements

Parking
Many of the areas assessed were pedestrianised but despite this 13 of the 80 reviews, ie 16% of the ‘walks’, 
were noted as having vehicles illegally parked.

Personal safety
When asked to comment on ‘How safe did you feel whilst walking?’, 85% gave one of the top two grades of 
‘Totally safe’ or ‘Comfortable’. 
Only two researchers felt ‘Unsafe’, once each in Victoria Street / Wheatsheaf Lane and John Street where 
they felt uncomfortable in the area.

6% of ‘walks’ were rated ‘Unsafe’. This means that in almost 1 in 10 locations researchers felt 
uncomfortable.

Page 27



46%

39%

6%

6%

3%

5 - Totally safe

4 - Comfortable

3 - Average

2 - Unsafe

1 - Very unsafe

2017

Personal safety

Quality of pavements and roads

76% of areas were deemed either ‘Good’ or ‘Excellent’. Only 9% were being classed as having ‘Room for 
improvement’, 13% as ‘Acceptable’ and just 3% were given the lowest grading of ‘Needs serious attention’.

30%

46%

13%

9%

3%

5 - Excellent

4 - Good

3 - Acceptable

2 - Room for improvement

1 - Need serious attention

2017

Quality of roads and pavements

e. Overall attractiveness and lighting

Lighting

Nine of the ‘walks’ were monitored when lighting was deemed to be appropriate as they were carried out 
towards the end of the working day.
 
Lighting was reviewed for its effectiveness and standards were generally high. Of the nine areas monitored, 
six, or 67%, were classed as ‘Excellent’ whilst three, or 33%, were ‘Good’.

Overall attractiveness

As a final part of their audit of each ‘walk’, researchers assessed the ‘Overall attractiveness of the area that 
they had just visited.
 

Page 28



In line with the other standards just 3% were classed as ‘Unattractive’ with 29% rated as ‘Acceptable’ and 
63% achieving one of the top two grades.

0%
5%

10%
15%
20%
25%
30%
35%
40%
45%
50%

5 - Very 
attractive

4 - 
Attractive

3 - 
Acceptable

2 - 
Unattractive

1 - Very 
unattractive

2017 18% 45% 29% 6% 3%

Overall attractiveness of areas

f. Street vendors

Four researchers saw street activity and in three out of these cases they were not seen to have had a 
disadvantageous effect of their perceived view of Merthyr Tydfil Centre.

 

Page 29



This page is intentionally left blank



Attractive, safe and secure – Area 1: Glebeland Street

Location Actions Who When Comments
JNP Legal Renovation underway JNP Legal Commenced
Heads New owner – possible BID shop front grant Tenant / BID
Ann’s Flowers Good – already had BID shop front grant - 2014
Pain for Pleasure Signage poor - possible BID shop front grant Tenant / BID
Hair by Deborah Good - already had BID shop front grant - 2014
Wrap ‘n’ Roll Ground floor OK – already had BID shop 

front grant / look at upper floors
Building owner 2016

4 Sure Wales Good – already had BID shop front grant - 2016
GGP Law Good – recently renovated -
VNU Adequate – possible BID shop front grant Tenant / BID
Alleyway Poor - speak to building owners TCM  / BID
The Narrow Gauge OK – recently cleaned - 2017
Jonathan House Appearance OK but derelict CNC Properties
Apex Estate Agents Ground floor OK / look at upper floors Building owner
The Belle Vue Currently under refurbishment Enterprise Inns Commenced
Milbourne Chambers OK but long term solution needed CNC Properties
The Wyndham Arms Very poor - possible BID shop front grant Tenant / BID
Glebeland Fish Bar Recently renovated -
Former Merthyr Express OK -
Derek Philipps Estate Agents Good - already had BID shop front grant 2014
Bonjour Bon Appetit Adequate – possible BID shop front grant Tenant / BID
Castle House Recently granted Welsh Government 

funding for façade improvements
CNC Properties Commencing 

soon

Building Frontages

Castle Hotel Adequate Building Owner

Litter bins Remove and replace old bins (2?) TCM Funding needed
Planters Propose removal TCM Obtain quotes
Cigarette / chewing gum bins Needed at Wyndham Arms and Belle Vue Licensing Part of evening economy 

emerging action plan
Poles Remove 2 obsolete poles by loading bay 

outside Ann’s Flowers 
Highways

Street lighting columns Old columns need painting Lighting Section Lighting Dept reluctant as 
obscures rust

Street Furniture

 

Finger post Remove obsolete arms TCM Funding needed

APPEN
DIX C

P
age 31



Highways Pavements Remove weeds
Undertake inspection

Parks
Highways

Carriageway Undertake inspection Highways

Wrap ‘n’ Roll - 3
VNU – 4
The Narrow Gauge – 4
The Belle Vue – not available
The Wyndham Arms – 5
Glebeland Fish Bar - 3
Bonjour Bon Appetit – 3

Food Hygiene 
Ratings 

The Castle Hotel - 2

CCTV MTHA to let sign obscuring 
coverage

Liaise with MTHA TCM

P
age 32



Civic Centre, Castle Street,  
Merthyr Tydfil    CF47 8AN 

 

Main Tel: 01685 725000 www.merthyr.gov.uk 
 

 
 

SCRUTINY REPORT 
 

 

 

 

 

To:  Chair, Ladies and Gentlemen 

Scrutiny Committee Work Programme 
 
 
1.0 PURPOSE OF THE REPORT 
 
1.1 To provide the Scrutiny Committee with its work programme for consideration and to 

prepare in advance of the next scrutiny committee meeting. 
 
1.2 To remind scrutiny committee members that they need to consider the requirements 

of the Wellbeing of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 in all aspects of scrutiny 
work. 

 
2.0 RECOMMENDATION(S) 
 
2.1 The Committee notes the content of this report 
 
2.2 The Committee considers its work programme and approve, revise or amend it as 

deemed appropriate; and to consider the questions above in planning for the next 
meeting.  

 
 
3.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND 
 
3.1 Scrutiny committees are required to prepare and keep under review a programme for 

their future work. By reviewing and prioritising issues, members are able to ensure 
that the work programme delivers a member-led agenda.  

 
3.2 At each meeting the committee will agree the agenda items for their next meeting 

and in preparation may in advance wish to ask itself the following questions. 
 

Date Written 27th November 2017 
Report Author Scrutiny Section 
Service Area Legal & Governance Services 
Committee Division Scrutiny  
Exempt/Non Exempt Non Exempt 
Committee Date 5th December 2017 

Page 33

Agenda Item 6



Q) Why has the item been placed on a scrutiny work programme? 
a. Does this item/topic contribute to the delivery of the Council’s Wellbeing 

Objectives and priorities? 
b. Is this item/topic relating to service performance concerns? 
c. Is this item/topic of significant public interest? 
d. Has the item/topic got budgetary implications? 
e. Is this a item/topic where Scrutiny involvement will make a significant 

difference and achieve tangible outcomes? 
f. Can effective Scrutiny of this issue be delivered from within available 

resources? 
 
Q) What is the specific role of the committee? 

            This will depend on the item – for example the role could be: 
a. to determine if performance levels are acceptable in relation to a particular 

department 
 b.  to determine if a specific policy is fit for purpose 

 c.  to satisfy itself that the Authority is working well with its partners in tackling a 
major issue  

d.  to gather the views of specific stakeholders as part of an on-going scrutiny 
investigation / review 

e. to explore possible solutions to an issue 
 

Q) What outcome is the committee seeking from the consideration of this 
item? 

a. To comment on the proposed budget and make suggestions to cabinet 
regarding the proposed budget’s ability to deliver the priorities of the council  

b. Identification of any causes for concern and note successes. 
c. To receive an overview presentation. 
d. To gain an understanding of and to comment on a policy / strategy 
e. To explore ideas around the setting of budgets while considering the 

pressures facing each service. This also helps provide an overview of the 
policy frame work.  

f. For the scrutiny committee to gain an overview and refresh their knowledge of 
the wellbeing objectives / other plan / other strategy. 

g. Improvement in service delivery 
 

Q) What information does the committee need to fulfil this role / achieve 
this outcome?  
What is the Committee trying to do? You might be trying to do some or all of 
the following i.e. establish facts; gather opinions; or explore new ideas / 
solutions. 

 
Q) Who should be invited to the meeting to provide the information? 

Depending on the information you need you might want to hear from a range 
of witnesses – e.g. Cabinet members, Senior Officers, Service users, and 
External partners – e.g. Police, Health Board etc 

 
Q) Does the committee need to ask for written representations? 

The Committee may wish to pose some questions to the Directorate / Cabinet 
member / External Partner etc prior to the meeting. This may help in instances 
when the committee is looking for something specific to be addressed. This 

Page 34



will assist whoever is attending ensure that they have the information / answer 
ready for the meeting.  

 
Q) Which meeting format / venue would be most appropriate for the item 

and for the witnesses that will be invited to attend? 
 Meetings do not have to be held in a formal committee room environment. 

You may wish to hold occasional meetings out in the community e.g. 
community centres, sports facilities etc. It depends on the subject. Some 
people find the formal setting intimidating. Site visits for example may be more 
appropriate to see first-hand what the committee is investigating / obtaining 
information on e.g. waste sites, regeneration projects etc. 

 
 

The Wellbeing of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 (the Act) 
 
3.3 The Act applied the wellbeing duty on local authorities. This duty means this Council 

has to work towards its wellbeing goals and is required to publish its Statement of 
Wellbeing, which sets out our local wellbeing objectives for the community over the 
next five years.  

 
The Authority’s “wellbeing objectives” seek to secure sustained improvements in the 
economic, social, cultural and environmental wellbeing of the people who live and 
work in Merthyr Tydfil, now and in the future. The focus is on supporting people when 
they need it most and equipping them with the skills they need to lead fulfilled lives. 

 
 In brief, the wellbeing objectives for Merthyr Tydfil cover four main groups: 
 

Best Start to Life (Reported to Learning & LAESCYP Scrutiny Committee) 
• BS1 Children get the best start to life.  
• BS2 Children and young people are equipped with the skills they need to be 

successful learners and confident individuals. 
 

Working Life (Reported to Regeneration and Public Protection Scrutiny Committee) 
• WL1 Making skills work for Merthyr Tydfil: Developing the workforce of the 

future.  
• WL2 Developing the environment and infrastructure for business to flourish. 

 
 
Environmental Wellbeing (Reported to Neighbourhood Services Scrutiny 
Committee) 

• EW1 Communities protect - enhance and promote our natural environment 
and countryside  

• EW2 Communities protect - develop and promote our heritage and cultural 
assets. 

 
Living Well (reported to Social Services Scrutiny Committee) 

• LW1 Developing safer communities.  
• LW2 People have good physical and mental wellbeing.  
• LW3 People live independently. 

 

Page 35



3.4 The Act places a legal duty on public bodies to adopt the “sustainable development 
principle” when setting wellbeing objectives, and in taking steps to meet those 
objectives.  

 
Any reference to a public body doing something “in accordance with the sustainable 
development principle” means that the body must act in a manner which seeks to 
ensure that the needs of the present are met without compromising the ability of 
future generations to meet their own needs. 
 
In the Act, the sustainable development principle is exemplified by the five ways of 
working i.e. there are five things that public bodies need to think about to show that 
they have applied the sustainable development principle. Following these ways of 
working will help us work together better, avoid repeating past mistakes and tackle 
some of the long term challenges we are facing. These “5 things” (ways of working) 
are shown below:- 

 
1. Long term - The importance of balancing short-term needs with the need to 

safeguard the ability to also meet long-term needs (taking account of both 
short term and long term needs when making decisions.)  

 
2. Prevention - How acting to prevent problems occurring or getting worse may 

help public bodies meet their objectives (stop problems happening or getting 
worse) 

 
3. Integration - Considering how the public body’s well-being objectives may 

impact upon each of the well-being goals, on their other objectives, or on the 
objectives of other public bodies (making sure that the objectives set by the 
council contribute to the wellbeing goals and there is an understanding of how 
they impact on other organisations work to meet the goals). There needs to be 
connections within the council, between departments, between cabinet 
members Who else within this organisation do we need to talk to ; to avoid 
wasted effort, duplication. What other pieces of legislation may affect, inform, 
impinge upon what we are seeking to address? 

 
4. Collaboration - Acting in collaboration with any other person (or different 

parts of the body itself) that could help the body to meet its well-being 
objectives (working  with people inside and outside the council to meet your 
objectives when working towards the goals). 

 
5. Involvement - The importance of involving people with an interest in 

achieving the wellbeing goals, and ensuring that those people reflect the 
diversity of the area which the body serves (make sure that everyone who has 
an interest or expertise in or is affected by achieving the goals are involved or 
represented). 

 
3.5  Much of Scrutiny committee activity is aligned to the delivery of the wellbeing 

objectives and each scrutiny committee will be receiving regular performance reports 
on these areas. See appendix I which provides further details on this Authority’s 
wellbeing objectives. 

 

Page 36



3.6 Scrutinising under the Act. The Act says that we have to dramatically change the 
way we do things. Not changing what we do but changing the way that we do it. This 
is difficult as many public sector organisations are entrenched in their approaches, in 
their activities and in their attitudes. In all scrutiny work members will need to 
consider the Act! 

 
1. Applying the principles of the Act -  Scrutiny committees will have a 

responsibility to ensure that the principles of the Act are applied to policy and 
decision making in Merthyr 

 
2. Contributing to the setting of the Wellbeing Objectives and the Well Being 

statement. 
 
3. Monitoring progress against the Objectives and seeing if they are being 

met.  
 
4. Scrutiny of the PSB  - strategic and focussed on the work of the PSB as a 

whole (not its constituent members) either an existing scrutiny committee or a 
new one 

 
5. By ensuring that the ways of working are followed in Merthyr Tydfil when 

undertaking  
 
− Pre-decision scrutiny (involvement of community in the decision making 

process?);  
− Policy development (how will this policy impact in people in 2030,40,50 

years?);  
− Performance monitoring (are there problems that can be prevented? 

Could performance be improved if we work with someone else?); and 
− Investigative scrutiny (work with people who have an interest in the 

subject). 
 

3.7 A copy of the Committees work programme is also attached. 
 
 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 
Title of Document(s) Document(s) Date Document Location 

Statement of Wellbeing 
 

28th June 2017 MTCBC Internet 

 

Does the report contain any issue that may impact the Council’s 
Constitution?  
 

No 

 
 

Page 37

http://mtcbcelecreg:9070/documents/s36089/Committee%20Report.pdf


BS Best Start to Life

4. BS 1: Children get the best start to life3

Children, have a positive early experience to ensure they are ready to learn, ready for 
school and have good life chances.

4.1. What happens to children in their earliest years is key to outcomes in adult life.  This is 
now supported by a wide range of research evidence from education, health, justice and 
economic experts.  This wellbeing objective is about giving our children the best start in 
life, to set them off on a path that leads to positive outcomes later in life.

4.2. Improving early years support is also crucial in tackling the root causes of adverse 
childhood experiences, which we know have a detrimental impact on future health and 
wellbeing.  We define early years as pre-birth to 7 years old.  This broad definition of early 
years recognises the importance of pregnancy in influencing outcomes and that the 
transition into primary school is a critical period in children’s lives.

4.3. Parents and carers have a crucial role in creating a home environment that nurtures early 
development and addresses barriers to learning that particularly affect less advantaged 
children and young people.  Parents in Merthyr Tydfil recognise they have a shared 
responsibility with schools to help their children develop skills, but a lack of confidence in 
their abilities can prevent some from doing so.

4.4. This wellbeing objective offers a holistic and sustainable approach to meeting the 
wellbeing needs of young children.  Such needs should be interpreted broadly and 
encompass play, learning, social relationships and emotional, physical and mental 
wellbeing.  While this approach is important for all children, it will particularly benefit 
children who face disadvantage or have a high risk of poor outcomes later in life.  The key 
components to support positive development in the early years include:

 Children having a nurturing and stimulating home environment
 Children having access to high quality pre-school and school education
 Helping mothers to have good maternal health
 Helping parents and carers with literacy and numeracy to enhance their ability to 

support their children’s learning

4.5. The risks of poorer outcomes for children and families are strongly correlated to 
underlying factors, mainly poverty and lack of parental skills and knowledge as well as 
education.  Wider stresses on parents and families such as substance misuse, debt, poor 
housing and lack of employment can also affect the quality of early years' experience and 
therefore impact on development.

3 This wellbeing objective recognises the right of all young children to high quality relationships, environments and 
services and will contribute strongly to promoting and upholding children’s rights as defined by the UN 
Convention on the Rights of the Child (UNCRC).

Page 38

jonesh1
Typewritten Text

jonesh1_1
Typewritten Text
                    APPENDIX I

jonesh1_2
Typewritten Text



BS Best Start to Life

4.6. The best start to life has to work alongside our other wellbeing objectives which address 
these underlying factors, particularly:

 Children and young people are equipped with the skills they need be successful 
learners and confident individuals

 Making skills work for Merthyr Tydfil: Developing the workforce of the future
 People have good physical and mental health

Page 39

jonesh1_3
Typewritten Text



BS Best Start to Life

5. BS 2: Children and young people are equipped with the skills they 
need to be successful learners and confident individuals

Children and young people, develop the knowledge, skills and attributes they will need to 
flourish in life, learning and work.

5.1. This objective is the next step on from the early years and continues the principle of 
valuing the wider benefits that learning can bring to the individual, to society and 
communities and to the economy.  It is part of a framework to show how all the constituent 
parts of our education and learning systems can contribute to giving Merthyr Tydfil a skills 
base that will improve economic, cultural, social and environmental wellbeing.

5.2. A young person’s education, from the early years through their compulsory education, lays 
the foundations of skills for life and work.  What they learn and the skills they acquire will 
help them improve their own lives.  Education has become one of the clearest indicators 
of life outcomes, such as employment, income and social status, and is a predictor of 
attitudes and wellbeing.

5.3. Wellbeing is strongly linked to attainment.  Research evidence shows that there is value 
for schools to promote health and wellbeing among pupils.  This can range from effective 
social and emotional competencies, the culture ethos and environment of a school and 
opportunities for pupils to be physically active.  Pupils with better health and wellbeing are 
more likely to be ready to learn and achieve better academically.

5.4. This wellbeing objective has at its core the promotion of equality of opportunity.  Equipping 
children and young people with the skills they need includes the following key 
components:

 Schools equipping pupils with high levels of literacy, numeracy and ICT skills
 Schools equipping pupils with social and emotional skills
 Schools supporting physical activity of pupils
 Youth services involving young people and enhancing their knowledge and skills

5.5. This objective has to work alongside our other wellbeing objectives which address the 
wider factors that influence family life:

 Children get the best start to life
 Making skills work for Merthyr Tydfil: Developing the workforce of the future
 People have good physical and mental health

Page 40



WL Working Life

6. WL 1: Making skills work for Merthyr Tydfil: Developing the workforce 
of the future

Highly skilled and qualified people are supported by a local economy that makes full and 
productive use of these skills; where our employers, demand, value and make best use of 
their workforce's skills.

6.1. "Too often, people's experiences of trying to get out of poverty tell a story of barriers and 
traps, rather than routes out"4.  This echoes the challenges experienced by unemployed 
people in Cwm Taf, who spoke of insufficient employment opportunities and numerous 
barriers to employment, particularly the lack of useful support or guidance.

6.2. A key challenge in Merthyr Tydfil is to help people develop their resources (skills, 
knowledge etc.) and tackle the barriers they experience so they can become the 
workforce of the future.  The focus of this wellbeing objective will be on the work we do 
within our communities to improve their skill level of the workforce.

6.3. Research shows that people who report no educational qualifications are more likely to be 
in relatively low income and people who are not in employment with no qualification are 
more likely to be economically inactive.  This is important because a comparatively high 
proportion of people in Merthyr Tydfil do not have any qualifications; we need to improve 
employability skills for those without jobs.  The key components to support the 
development of the future workforce include:

 People having employment opportunities
 People having the basic skills to access learning and training programmes
 People having the skills and qualifications that are suitable for employers' changing 

needs

6.4. The risk of poorer outcomes for people with low or no skills are strongly linked with the 
likelihood they are in lower paid work; experiencing in-work poverty and having lower 
resilience when dealing with issues or problems.  Evidence also shows poorer mental and 
physical health outcomes are often experienced by those with low or no skills.

6.5. Making skills work for Merthyr Tydfil has to work alongside our other wellbeing objectives 
which address these underlying factors, particularly:

 Children get the best start to life

4 JRF (2016) Monitoring Poverty and Social Exclusion 2016, Joseph Rowntree Foundation

Page 41



WL Working Life

7. WL 2: Developing the environment and infrastructure for businesses 
to flourish

Development that integrates regeneration with sustainable urban design improves the 
built environment and strengthens the natural environment.

7.1. The built and natural environment can have a strong effect on people's behaviour and 
opportunities and a significant impact on their wellbeing, particularly by where they live 
and work.  The focus of this wellbeing objective is the work we do in our communities to 
develop the environment and infrastructure that allows the growth of communities and a 
resilient local economy.

7.2. There is evidence to suggest that a well-managed urban environment and high quality 
local services are important to create conditions that are attractive to business investors, 
visitors and local residents alike.  Development that is sustainable can help build 
resilience and capacity in adapting to climate change, ensuring town centres and 
communities are attractive, viable and better protected.

7.3. This wellbeing objective offers a holistic and sustainable approach to environmental and 
infrastructure development needs in Merthyr Tydfil.  Such needs should be interpreted 
broadly to include renewable and low carbon energy, sustainable transport, diverse 
housing, education, retail, green infrastructure including biodiverse open spaces.  Access 
to high quality local services, amenities and safer communities can attract inward 
investment, increase visitor spend and help grow the local economy.  The key 
components to support the development of the environment and infrastructure include:

 People having access to flexible, integrated and sustainable transport options
 Parents and carers having flexible childcare options
 Suitable previously developed land that delivers a diverse supply of housing
 Promoting and supporting the use of renewable and low carbon energy
 Strengthening and diversifying the rural economy

7.4. Flooding and extreme weather events which damage assets and disrupt business 
operations pose the greatest risk to Welsh businesses now and in the future.  Evidence 
shows that high quality, sustainable and inclusive design can mitigate the predicted 
effects of climate change.

7.5. Developing the environment and infrastructure for businesses to flourish has to work 
alongside our other wellbeing objectives, particularly:

 Communities protect, enhance and promote our natural environment and countryside
 Communities protect, develop and promote our heritage and cultural assets

Page 42



EW Environmental Wellbeing

8. EW 1: Communities protect, enhance and promote our natural 
environment and countryside5

People, proud of the area’s outstanding landscape, regularly spend time outdoors in good 
quality, accessible greenspace.  Communities help improve their local areas, learning new 
skills, building strong social bonds and helping wildlife flourish.

8.1. The focus of this wellbeing objective is the work we do with our communities to protect, 
enhance and promote the natural environment and countryside.  This is because research 
shows that a healthy natural environment and countryside provides multiple benefits for 
people and wildlife from improved air, water and land quality, habitat protection and 
enhanced biodiversity to beneficial implications for physical and mental health.

8.2. How we act toward the natural environment and countryside will be a critical factor of a 
sustainable future in Merthyr Tydfil because the benefits of improving our natural 
environment will be felt across all of our wellbeing objectives.  We define the natural 
environment and countryside as all greenspace within the local authority boundary.  This 
broad definition of the natural environment and countryside recognises its importance of 
nature in both rural and urban environments.

8.3. This wellbeing objective offers a holistic and sustainable approach to meeting the 
environmental wellbeing needs in Merthyr Tydfil.  Those needs should be interpreted 
broadly to include quality greenspace and connectivity, habitat protection and biodiversity, 
resilient ecosystems, landscape character and pollution prevention.  While this approach 
is important for the environment as a whole, it will particularly benefit areas where there 
are key environmental issues or risks.  The key components for communities to protect, 
enhance and promote our natural environment and countryside include:

 Integration of landscape protection, management and planning
 Minimise environmental damage through prevention of pollution
 Maximise efficient use of materials and resources by means of the waste hierarchy
 Developing good quality and connected green infrastructure and open spaces

8.4. A degraded environment means our residents, communities and businesses will have a 
lower resilience to environmental risks.  As the environment is an underlying factor and 
influencer to many other wellbeing objectives, the risks presented by degraded 
environment also include a range of economic, social, health, community safety and 
cultural perspectives.

5 The Environment (Wales) Act 2016 requires the Council to seek to maintain and enhance biodiversity and 
promote the resilience of ecosystems taking into account diversity between and within ecosystems; the 
connections between and within ecosystems; the scale of ecosystems; the condition of ecosystems (including 
their structure and functioning) and the adaptability of ecosystems.

Page 43



EW Environmental Wellbeing

8.5. Communities protect, enhance and promote the natural environment and countryside has 
to work alongside our other wellbeing objectives to address these underlying factors, 
particularly:

 Developing the environment and infrastructure for businesses to flourish
 Communities protect, develop and promote our heritage and cultural assets
 People have good physical and mental health

Page 44



EW Environmental Wellbeing

9. EW 2: Communities protect, develop and promote our heritage and 
cultural assets

Celebrating success, valuing our heritage, culture and language will strengthen our 
identity for future generations.

9.1. The focus of this wellbeing objective is to use existing community assets to deliver wealth 
and health benefits for the people of Merthyr Tydfil.  There is a strong argument to 
suggest valuing our heritage, culture and language can bring improvements to the 
wellbeing of individuals and communities.  

9.2. The distinctiveness of Merthyr Tydfil has been shaped by our industrial past and the 
different communities who make Merthyr Tydfil their home.  How we work with these 
communities will be a critical factor in delivering on the vast potential that Merthyr Tydfil’s 
heritage and cultural assets offer us.

9.3. When local people talk about culture, it is often described as an opportunity for 
celebration.  Where this culture is celebrated varies from historic buildings brought back 
into use such as the Redhouse, Soar and Dowlais Engine House to modern venues such 
as the many rugby clubs, community centres and the refurbished Merthyr Tydfil football 
club.  The regeneration of the town centre has provided an additional asset for hosting 
cultural activities that brings people together including Merthyr Rising, Merthyr by the sea, 
Awesome Chilli Festival.

9.4. Cyfarthfa Park was regularly referred to as something good in the community during our 
engagement activities.  How people use the park varies from walking, foraging, fishing and 
landscape painting to attending events such as open air theatre, concerts and firework 
displays.  Whatever the use, the impact on people’s sense of wellbeing was commonly 
endorsed. 

9.5. Community groups that bring people together were also acknowledged as something 
good by those taking part in our engagement activities.  There was a sense that the 
tradition of community groups was enjoying resurgence as the focus on wellbeing 
develops.  Making social connections with other people is directly correlated with 
improvements in physical and mental wellbeing and can help combat the growth in social 
isolation and loneliness experienced by many different people living in the community.

9.6. Using our landscape and history to encourage people to be more physically active is a 
great way to improve wellbeing.  Cyfarthfa provides the backdrop for the annual Wales 
Valleys Walking Festival, which showcases Merthyr Tydfil’s history and natural beauty 
combined with walking.

9.7. In addition to health and wellbeing benefits our heritage and culture can help bolster the 
prosperity of the county borough by attracting visitors and tourists which supports inward 
investment, provides employment and offers opportunities to develop new skills.  In 

Page 45



EW Environmental Wellbeing

addition research shows that being able to speak, read and write Welsh can be an 
advantage for people seeking a job in Wales.

9.8. This wellbeing objective offers a holistic and sustainable approach to meeting the cultural 
wellbeing needs in Merthyr Tydfil.  Those needs should be interpreted broadly and 
encompass tourism, destination management, conservation and preservation of assets 
and language, local events and community participation.  The key components for 
communities to protect, develop and promote our heritage and culture include:

 Supporting existing community facilities and community led developments
 Supporting suitable tourism, leisure and recreation developments
 Promoting cultural and social activities within our communities
 Promoting the use of the Welsh language

9.9. Communities protect, develop and promote our heritage and cultural assets has to work 
alongside our other wellbeing objectives, particularly:

 Children get the best start to life
 Developing the environment and infrastructure for businesses to flourish
 Developing safer communities

Page 46



LW Living Well

10. LW 1: Developing safer communities

People, living in connected communities, feel safe where they live, work or spend their 
leisure time.

10.1. Feeling safe influences how people value their community, and is important to people’s 
quality of life, often making the difference between people wanting to live and stay in their 
neighbourhood or not.  There is evidence to suggest that building confidence and 
resilience in individuals and communities is an important step towards improving 
wellbeing.  Where healthier and happier people are more likely to positively contribute to 
their communities and society.

10.2. Community safety covers many aspects of life; however, there is no commonly agreed 
definition of community safety or clarity on the range of services and activities that 
contribute to its delivery.  We define safer communities from a social perspective as 
communities that are free from crime, victims of crime or those living in fear of crime.  This 
definition allows us to focus on the social aspects of safety that adversely affect the quality 
of life and wellbeing of people.

10.3. The focus of this wellbeing objective is the work we do to develop safer communities, 
including keeping our children and adults safe and free from harm, creating a place where 
people value their neighbours and community.  The key components for developing safer 
communities include:

 Safeguarding vulnerable children and adults who are at risk of harm
 Tackling the harm caused by the misuse of drugs and alcohol
 Tackling violence against women and girls
 Offender management (young people through to adults)
 Anti-Social Behaviour
 Community cohesion

10.4. Developing safer communities will need to work alongside our other wellbeing objectives, 
particularly:

 Children get the best start to life
 Communities protect, develop and promote our heritage and cultural assets
 People have good physical and mental wellbeing
 People live independently

10.5. In the wider environmental context of safe communities, our wellbeing objectives provide a 
focus on the elements needed for people and communities to develop and maintain a 
clean and biodiverse environment, well lit, free from graffiti, litter and fly-tipping:

 Developing the environment and infrastructure for business to flourish
 Communities protect, enhance and promote our natural environment and countryside

Page 47



LW Living Well

11. LW 2: People have good physical and mental health

People, adopting healthy behaviours earlier in their life, are heathier, feel good and 
function well.

11.1. There are many predictors of wellbeing and this objective focuses on two of them, 
physical health and mental health.  The link between physical health and mental health is 
incontrovertible.  Either one will have effects on the other.  Poor physical health can lead 
to poor mental health and the other way round.  Just as good physical health can improve 
our state of mind, a strong and healthy mind can greatly improve our ability to cope with 
physical ailments.

11.2. Research shows that levels of subjective wellbeing vary across the life course, dipping in 
the mid teenage years, at midlife, and again among the oldest of the old.  The perception 
of general health remains one of the strongest predictors of subjective wellbeing in adults 
and people who are physically active are more likely to have improved general and mental 
health.  

11.3. There is a growing body of evidence that indicates nature provides added value to the 
known benefits of physical activity.  Locally people have told us they have a strong 
association between the outdoors and wellbeing.  However, people also shared their 
concerns on the quality, accessibility and awareness of greenspace, in both urban areas 
and the wider countryside.

11.4. The focus of this wellbeing objective is to motivate and support people and communities 
to develop positive physical and mental health behaviours.  Adopting these behaviours 
early in life will help us to ensure long term and sustainable benefits for the physical and 
mental wellbeing needs of the people in Merthyr Tydfil. 

11.5. To ensure a holistic approach to meeting this objective, physical and mental health needs 
should be interpreted broadly and encompass the family and neighbourhood, school and 
teenage years, having a good job, home and positive social relationships.  The key 
components for people have good physical and mental wellbeing include:

 Promoting healthy behaviours from a young age
 Tackling adverse childhood experiences
 Increasing levels of physical activity

11.6. People have good physical and mental health has to work alongside all other wellbeing 
objectives.

Page 48



LW Living Well

12. LW 3: People live independently6

People, empowered to live independently within their communities, have the appropriate 
support, advice and assistance to meet their personal needs, live safely and access 
opportunities available to them.

12.1. The focus of this objective is to help people with particular support needs to live 
independent and well lives in their communities for longer.  The type of support required to 
promote greater independence and wellbeing will differ for diverse groups in the 
community.  

12.2. For disabled people (of all ages) this objective is about removing the barriers that prevent 
the full participation in all aspects of society and promoting the rights and full inclusion of 
disabled people.  Research evidence from the Office of Disability Issues suggests that 
independent living provides significantly more benefits at an individual level than 
conventional forms of service provision.  At service delivery level, benefits include the 
reduced costs in the delivery of independent support mechanisms.

12.3. For older people this objective is about addressing the care and support needs required to 
remain in their own homes, and developing local capacity within communities so people 
can connect with others and become more involved in community and public life.  There is 
evidence that older people living locally wish to remain living in their homes as long as 
possible.  Alongside tangible benefits in promoting wellbeing linked to choice and control 
and other aspects of maximising independent living for older people, there is also a 
lessening reliance on institutional forms of service provision leading to reduced costs.

12.4. Our engagement with people locally which has identified key factors to support people to 
live independently include:

 Clearly and accessibly communicate sources of advice, assistance and support
 Gather the views of service users to inform planning and service delivery
 Services that provide people with the ability to live in their own home
 Better access to quality services and facilities to support a fairer society for people with 

protected characteristics

12.5. Ensuring that people can live independent lives for longer requires wider societal changes 
to create the necessary conditions to ensure the success of this objective.  To create 
these changes, people to live independently has to work alongside our other wellbeing 
objectives, particularly:

 Children get the best start to life
 Developing the environment and infrastructure for business to flourish
 Communities protect, develop and promote our heritage and cultural assets

6 This wellbeing objective contributes to the UN Convention on the Rights of Persons with Disabilities (UNCRPD), 
which includes Article 19: the right to independent living.

Page 49



LW Living Well

 Developing safer communities

12.6. In the wider context of people living independent lives our other wellbeing objectives focus 
on the elements needed for people and communities to become more self-sufficient 
particularly:

 Children and young people are equipped with the skills they need to be successful 
learners and confident individuals

 Making skills work for Merthyr Tydfil: Developing the workforce of the future

Page 50



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

PORTFOLIO MEMBER:  Lisa Mytton                     PORTFOLIO MEMBER:  David Hughes 

WELLBEING CHAMPION:  Steve Jones   PORTFOLIO MEMBER:  Geraint Thomas     PORTFOLIO MEMBER:  Howard Barrett    WELLBEING CHAMPION:  Carys Kennedy 

CHIEF OFFICER:  Sue Walker    WELLBEING CHAMPION:  Mark Thomas     WELLBEING CHAMPION:  Mark Anderton    CHIEF OFFICER:  Lisa Curtis-Jones 

PROJECT LEADS:       CHIEF OFFICER:  Alyn Owen      CHIEF OFFICER:  Cheryllee Evans     PROJECT LEADS: 

- Sarah Bowen (Education)    PROJECT LEADS        PROJECT LEADS:        -  Paul Lewis (Licensing & Trading Standards) 

- Joe Colsey (Education)     -  Deb Ryan-Newton (Employability Service)     -  Steve Thomas (Environmental Services)    -  Ryan Evans  (Community Safety)  

- Annabel Lloyd (Children’s Services)     -  Chris Long (Community Regeneration)     -  Mick Campbell (Property & Estates    -  Julie Beck  (Safer Merthyr Tydfil) 

- Chris Hole (Anti-Poverty & Wellbeing)            -  Susan Gow (Environmental Health)    - Gary Black (RCT County Borough Council) 

OTHER CONTRIBUTORS              OTHER CONTRIBUTORS      OTHER CONTRIBUTORS 

       -       John Sellwood (Leisure & Culture)             -  Paul Jones (Environmental Services)    -  Sarah Bowen (Education) 

      -      Steve Peters (Public Protection)             -  Paul Davies (Environmental Services)    -  Annabel Lloyd (Children’s Services) 

 

                  

 

 

PORTFOLIO MEMBER:  David Hughes 

                        WELLBEING CHAMPION:  Judith Jones 

PORTFOLIO MEMBER:  Lisa Mytton    PORTFOLIO MEMBER:  Geraint Thomas     PORTFOLIO MEMBER:  Howard Barrett    CHIEF OFFICER:  Lisa Curtis-Jones 

WELLBEING CHAMPION:  Steve Peters   WELLBEING CHAMPION:  Annabel Lloyd     WELLBEING CHAMPION:  Chris Hole    PROJECT LEADS:  

CHIEF OFFICER:  Sue Walker    CHIEF OFFICER:  Alyn Owen      CHIEF OFFICER:  Alyn Owen      -  John Sellwood (Corporate Services) 

PROJECT LEAD      PROJECT LEADS        PROJECT LEADS   

- Sue Walker (Education):     -  Chris Long (Community Regeneration)     - Chris Long (Community Regeneration) 

- Annabel Lloyd (Children’s Service)    -  Cheryl Jones (Rights of Way)      - Zoe Thomas  (Physical Regeneration) 

- Joe Colsey (Education)     -  Rhian Prosser (Town Centre Manager)     - Rhian Prosser (Town Centre Manager)  

- Sarah Bowen (Education)     -  Chris Hole (Anti-Poverty & Wellbeing)     - Kerry O’Donovan (Corporate Risk & Equalities)  PORTFOLIO MEMBER:  David Hughes 

- John Sellwood (Leisure & Culture)   OTHER CONTRIBUTORS       OTHER CONTRIBUTORS      WELLBEING CHAMPION:  Anthony Lewis 

OTHER CONTRIBUTORS      -  Sarah Bowen  (Education)      - Sarah Bowen (Education)     CHIEF OFFICER:  Lisa Curtis-Jones 

       -       Chris Hole (Anti-Poverty & Wellbeing)   -  Judith Jones (Planning)       - Ryan Barry (Tourism & Social Enterprise)   PROJECT LEADS 

               -  Lisa Williams-Clement (Highways & Engineering)            -  Angela Edevane (Adult Services) 

                 -  Suzanne Lewis-Abbott (Supporting People)  

                         -  Gareth Kedward (MIA) 

                                        -   Kerry O’Donovan (Corporate Risk & Equalities) 

OTHER CONTRIBUTORS      

  -  Steve Peters (Public Protection) 

 

 

 

 

CWM TAF PUBLIC SERVICES BOARD WELLBEING PLAN 

 

Focus on the Future: Wellbeing in our Community 

 

BEST START 
 

WORKING LIFE 
 

ENVIRONMENTAL WELLBEING 

 

LIVING WELL 

 

BEST START 1: 

Children have the best start to life 

 

BEST START 2: 

Children and young people are equipped with 

the skills they need to be successful learners and 

confident individuals 

UPDATE REPORTS PRESENTED TO LEARNING & 

LAESCYP SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 

 

All objectives present an update report to the Governance Scrutiny Committee once annually 

 

WORKING LIFE 1: 

Making skills work for Merthyr Tydfil: Developing the 

Workforce of the Future 

 

WORKING LIFE 2: 

Developing the environment and infrastructure for 

business to flourish 

 

ENVIRONMENTAL WELLBEING 1: 

Communities protect, enhance and promote our 

natural environment and countryside 

 

ENVIRONMENTAL WELLBEING 2: 

Communities protect, develop and promote our 

heritage and cultural assets 

 

LIVING WELL 1: 

Developing safer communities 

 

LIVING WELL 2: 

People have good Physical and Mental Health 

 

LIVING WELL 3: 

People live independently 

UPDATE REPORTS PRESENTED TO 

REGENERATION & PUBLIC PROTECTION 

SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 

UPDATE REPORTS PRESENTED TO 

NEIGHBOURHOOD SERVICES, PLANNING & 

COUNTRSYIDE SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 

UPDATE REPORTS PRESENTED TO 

REGENERATION & PUBLIC PROTECTION 

SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 

Version 1 (November 2017) 

P
age 51



Regeneration and Public Protection Scrutiny Committee  
Work Programme Descriptors 2017/18 

(The Work Programme is reviewed at each meeting and as such is subject to change) 

As per the WAO scrutiny forward work programmes should: provide a clear rationale for topic selection; be more outcome focussed; ensure that the method of scrutiny is best suited to the topic area and 
the outcome desired; align scrutiny programmes with the council’s performance management, self-evaluation and improvement arrangements. 
 

 
Committee Regeneration, Planning and Countryside 

 
Date / Timing Overarching Item Officer & Cabinet 

Member 
Scrutiny Focus  

18th July 2017 
                                                                 
Preparation of Work Programme 
 

12th Sept. 2017 

Wellbeing 
Objective 

Working Life 
(WL1) 

 

Cllr Geraint Thomas / 
Alyn Owen and 

appropriate Officers 

Scrutiny & Challenge:- The Scrutiny Committee will receive a report on a wellbeing 
objective.  The scrutiny report will outline the context, current position and provide the 
most up to date performance and project information to enable the Scrutiny 
Committee to discuss and challenge on the steps taken to meet our wellbeing 
objectives. 
 

Economic Growth 
Strategy and 
Partnership 

Cllr Geraint Thomas / 
Alyn Owen and 

appropriate Officers 

Scrutiny & Challenge:-  The Scrutiny Committee to receive a report on the journey to 
date in relation to the Economic Growth Strategy and Partnership.  Key priorities will be 
highlighted from within the Action Plan as well as the forward plan for delivery.  
 

24th October 2017 

Wellbeing 
Objective 

Working Life 
(WL2) 

 

Cllr Geraint Thomas / 
Alyn Owen and 

appropriate Officers 

Scrutiny & Challenge:- The Scrutiny Committee will receive a report on a wellbeing 
objective.  The scrutiny report will outline the context, current position and provide the 
most up to date performance and project information to enable the Scrutiny 
Committee to discuss and challenge on the steps taken to meet our wellbeing 
objectives. 
 

Destination 
Development  

Cllr Geraint Thomas / 
Alyn Owen and 

appropriate Officers 

Scrutiny & Challenge:- The Scrutiny Committee will receive a report on the Destination 
Management Plan and the key developments being delivered through the  Plan.  

Homelessness in 
the County 

Borough 

Steve Peters / Julian 
Pike /  Cllr Geraint 

Thomas 

Scrutiny & Challenge: - The scrutiny committee requires an update on current issues 
and an overview of current projects and programmes being delivered by the Cwm Taf 
Community Safety Partnership in respect of Homelessness; together with any other 
information that the department feels the committee should be aware of. The 
committee can then decide how they wish to take the matter forward following the 
report. 
 

P
age 52



Regeneration and Public Protection Scrutiny Committee  
Work Programme Descriptors 2017/18 

(The Work Programme is reviewed at each meeting and as such is subject to change) 

As per the WAO scrutiny forward work programmes should: provide a clear rationale for topic selection; be more outcome focussed; ensure that the method of scrutiny is best suited to the topic area and 
the outcome desired; align scrutiny programmes with the council’s performance management, self-evaluation and improvement arrangements. 
 

5th December 2017 

Wellbeing 
Objective 

Working Life 
(WL1) 

 

Cllr Geraint Thomas / 
Alyn Owen and 

appropriate Officers 
 

Scrutiny & Challenge:-The Scrutiny Committee will receive a report on a wellbeing 
objective.  The scrutiny report will outline the context, current position and provide the 
most up to date performance and project information to enable the Scrutiny 
Committee to discuss and challenge on the steps taken to meet our wellbeing 
objectives. 
 

Continued 
Development of 
the Town Centre 

Steve Peters / 
Portfolio Member / 

Alyn Owen 

Scrutiny & Challenge:-  –i.e. public protection and community safety. Need to look at 
different uses for town centre e.g. leisure usage and night time economy e.g. places to 
eat. Need to address homelessness and law and order issues.  There needs to be co-
ordinated work  e.g. how does the night time economy interact with licencing and 
trading standards regulations? 
 

16th January 2018 

Wellbeing 
Objective 

Working Life 
(WL2) 

 

Cllr Geraint Thomas / 
Alyn Owen and 

appropriate Officers 
 

Scrutiny & Challenge:- The Scrutiny Committee will receive a report on a wellbeing 
objective.  The scrutiny report will outline the context, current position and provide the 
most up to date performance and project information to enable the Scrutiny 
Committee to discuss and challenge on the steps taken to meet our wellbeing 
objectives. 
 

Department 
budgets. 

(Home to School 
Transport) 

Steve Peters / 
Portfolio Member 

Scrutiny & Challenge: - Post 16 transport is discretionary. The Transport section is 
responsible for procurement of services ensuring value for money. Education is 
responsible for the policy. The Transport section has identified support to learners that 
takes them outside the County Borough and a review of the policy may identify savings 
and support the College. To receive a briefing report. 
 

Enterprise and 
Business Support  

 
 
 

Cllr Geraint Thomas / 
Alyn Owen and 

appropriate Officers 

Scrutiny & Challenge:- The Scrutiny Committee will receive a report on the 
developments associated with Enterprise and Business Support including the Orbit 
Business Centre, the support available for Town Centre Businesses and the Social 
Enterprise Strategy.  
 
 

20th February 2018 

Wellbeing 
Objective 

Working Life 
(WL1) 

 

Cllr Geraint Thomas / 
Alyn Owen and 

appropriate Officers 

Scrutiny & Challenge:- The Scrutiny Committee will receive a report on a wellbeing 
objective.  The scrutiny report will outline the context, current position and provide the 
most up to date performance and project information to enable the Scrutiny 
Committee to discuss and challenge on the steps taken to meet our wellbeing 
objectives. 
 

P
age 53



Regeneration and Public Protection Scrutiny Committee  
Work Programme Descriptors 2017/18 

(The Work Programme is reviewed at each meeting and as such is subject to change) 

As per the WAO scrutiny forward work programmes should: provide a clear rationale for topic selection; be more outcome focussed; ensure that the method of scrutiny is best suited to the topic area and 
the outcome desired; align scrutiny programmes with the council’s performance management, self-evaluation and improvement arrangements. 
 

As Crime and 
Disorder 

Committee. 
Cwm Taf 

Community 
Safety 

Partnership  - 
Community 

Safety Update 
 

Steve Peters / Police 
(Chief Super Sally 
Burke / colleagues 

from RCTCBC / SWPCC 
Office 

Scrutiny & Challenge:-  
 

1. An update on current issues and an overview of current projects and 
programmes being delivered by the Cwm Taf Community Safety Partnership.  
 

2. In addition changes in higher level policing structure impacts on Community 
Safety Partnership. How does this affect policing in Merthyr Tydfil? How does 
this tie in with homelessness and anti-social behaviour. Scrutiny may wish to be 
kept abreast on progress and challenge and influence the processes.  

 
Economic Growth 

Strategy and 
Partnership 

Cllr Geraint Thomas / 
Alyn Owen and 

appropriate Officers 

Scrutiny & Challenge:-  The Scrutiny Committee to receive a report on the inward 
investment opportunities associated with the Economic Growth Strategy and 
Partnership including the developments and recruitment solutions at both General 
Dynamics and Trago Mills.  
 

3rd April 2018 

Wellbeing 
Objective 

Working Life 
(WL2) 

 

Cllr Geraint Thomas / 
Alyn Owen and 

appropriate Officers 

Scrutiny & Challenge:- The Scrutiny Committee will receive a report on a wellbeing 
objective.  The scrutiny report will outline the context, current position and provide the 
most up to date performance and project information to enable the Scrutiny 
Committee to discuss and challenge on the steps taken to meet our wellbeing 
objectives. 
 

Destination 
Development  

 
 

Cllr Geraint Thomas / 
Alyn Owen and 

appropriate Officers 

Scrutiny & Challenge:- The Scrutiny Committee will receive a report on the Cyfarthfa 
Heritage Area linked to the Destination Management Plan delivery and the relationship 
with the Leisure Trust in ensuring the product is effectively managed as an ongoing 
result of the significant investment in the Heritage Area.  

Additional items to 
consider for Work 
programme 

Environmental 
Health 

Steve Peters / Sue 
Gow /  Cllr Geraint 

Thomas 

Scrutiny & Challenge:-   – A report providing detail - how does the work of the 
department contribute to Public Health and Wellbeing? 
 
 

Trading 
Standards and 

Licensing 
 
 

Steve Peters / P Lewis 
/  Cllr Geraint Thomas 

Scrutiny & Challenge:-   – A report providing detail - how does the work of the 
department contribute to Public Health and Wellbeing? 
 

P
age 54



Regeneration and Public Protection Scrutiny Committee  
Work Programme Descriptors 2017/18 

(The Work Programme is reviewed at each meeting and as such is subject to change) 

As per the WAO scrutiny forward work programmes should: provide a clear rationale for topic selection; be more outcome focussed; ensure that the method of scrutiny is best suited to the topic area and 
the outcome desired; align scrutiny programmes with the council’s performance management, self-evaluation and improvement arrangements. 
 

 
 

P
age 55



T
his page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Wellbeing Objectives - Working Life 1; Making Skills Work for Merthyr Tydfil: Developing the Workforce of the Future
	4 Continued Development of the Town Centre
	Appendix 1
	Appendix 2
	Appendix 3

	6 Forward Work Programme
	Work Programme Report 2017 18
	To:  Chair, Ladies and Gentlemen
	Scrutiny Committee Work Programme
	1.0 PURPOSE OF THE REPORT
	2.0 RECOMMENDATION(S)
	3.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND


	APPENDIX I Statement of Wellbeing July 2017
	4 Regeneration




